S218176

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FLAVIO RAMOS et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

SUPREME COURT

v.

SEP 8 - 2014

BRENNTAG SPECIALTIES, INC. et al. Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FOUR, CASE NO. B248038

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

P. GERHARDT ZACHER (BAR No. 43184)
MATTHEW P. NUGENT (BAR No. 214844)
101 WEST BROADWAY, SUITE 1600
SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA 92101
(619) 696-6700 • FAX: (619) 696-7124
gzacher@gordonrees.com
mnugent@gordonrees.com

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP
LISA PERROCHET (BAR NO. 132858)
*JASON R. LITT (BAR NO. 163743)
15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR

ISSUE PRESENTED

Is a supplier of multiuse raw material responsible for injuries allegedly caused while the material is subjected to manufacturing processes by an intermediary purchaser, without any input from or control by the supplier?

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs Flavio and Modesta Ramos have sued various raw material suppliers because Mr. Ramos allegedly suffered injuries while working for an industrial foundry operation that made metal parts. They do not identify any hazard posed by the raw materials in the form as delivered to the foundry. Rather, it is the

manufacturing process that, according to the facts alleged, led to harmful exposures. Under these circumstances, the raw material/component parts doctrine should preclude liability against the raw material supplier absent any evidence of participation or control by the supplier in the manufacturing process. Where, as here, the employer-manufacturer develops and controls its own processes, the sophisticated purchaser doctrine provides an independent ground for finding no duty on the part of the raw material supplier to protect the purchaser's workers.

Defendant Alcoa Inc. is a seller and supplier of aluminum, one of the most abundant raw materials on Earth. Aluminum is used in innumerable ways in industrial processes, and it is a building block of countless consumer products, including soda cans, aluminum foil, and aspirin. Plaintiffs have identified no defect in the aluminum sold by Alcoa, nor is there anything inherently dangerous about aluminum. Nor does Alcoa have any influence or control over the innumerable manufacturing processes undertaken by the purchasers of its aluminum, including Mr. Ramos's employer. Nevertheless, overruling the trial court's sustaining of Alcoa's demurrer, the Court of Appeal determined that Alcoa is potentially liable for injuries allegedly caused by the employer's decision to subject the aluminum to industrial foundry processes that plaintiffs say released hazardous fumes from the aluminum.

Under traditional principles of tort law, the supplier of a raw material is generally not responsible for allegedly injurious postsale manufacturing processes in which the raw material is used unless (1) the raw materials are defective or "tainted" at the time of the sale, or (2) the supplier exerted control over the manufacturing process. (Rest.3d Torts, Products Liability § 5.)

California follows this rule. For example, in *Maxton v*. Western States Metals (2012) 203 Cal. App. 4th 81 (Maxton), the court affirmed a judgment in favor of a raw material supplier on facts essentially identical to those presented here. There, the court found that Alcoa, as a supplier of non-defective, multi-use aluminum raw materials, was not potentially liable on negligence or strict liability theories for injuries allegedly sustained by employees of the buyermanufacturers that manipulated Alcoa's aluminum. Similarly in Artiglio v. General Electric Co. (1998) 61 Cal. App. 4th 830 (Artiglio), the court affirmed summary judgment for a supplier of silicone used in manufacturing breast implants. The court concluded that the supplier had no duty to disclose to consumers information about potential dangers posed by use of silicone in medical devices, because the silicone materials had numerous other uses, and were subject to further processing by the breast implant manufacturers, which had the ability to determine the suitability and safety of the implants.

Courts around the country also agree, as reflected in the Restatement of Torts: "Inappropriate decisions regarding the use of [raw] materials are not attributable to the supplier of the raw materials but rather to the fabricator that puts them to improper use. The manufacturer of the integrated product has a significant comparative advantage regarding selection of materials to be used. Accordingly, raw-materials sellers are not subject to liability for harm caused by defective design of the end-product. To impose a

duty to warn would require the seller to develop expertise regarding a multitude of different end-products and to investigate the actual use of raw materials by manufacturers over whom the supplier has no control. Courts uniformly refuse to impose such an onerous duty to warn." (Rest.3d Torts, Products Liability § 5, com. c, p. 134.)

The Court of Appeal below departed from these well-established, control-based principles and instead held that a raw material supplier like Alcoa can be legally responsible for injuries arising from any conceivable use by a manufacturer of its multi-use, non-defective raw materials, so long as the use is foreseeable (in hindsight) or "intended." This novel approach is an outlier that fails to account for the real-world infeasibility of improving safety by imposing liability on a raw material supplier. The foreseeability test represents a dramatic and inappropriate expansion of the potential liability for the numerous entities that conduct business in California by supplying the basic materials and components from which all other products are made. This Court should reject this expansion and instead apply a control-based approach to define the scope of duties owed by raw material suppliers.

An alternative basis on which to affirm the trial court's sustaining of the demurrer here is the "sophisticated purchaser" doctrine, under which a bulk supplier of raw materials has no duty to warn a sophisticated purchaser, such as an employer who

manufactures aluminum products, of the alleged dangers to workers created by the employer-manufacturer's own operations.¹

The sophisticated purchaser doctrine may apply in some cases where the raw material supplier defense is inapt—such as where the supplier participated in the manufacturing process in some way or supplied an inherently hazardous material, but the manufacturer could be expected already to know of the hazards about which the plaintiff says the supplier should have warned or protected against. The converse is also true; the raw material supplier doctrine may apply where the sophisticated purchaser doctrine is inapt—such as where the purchaser has no reason to understand hazards posed by its manufacturing process or end products, but the supplier has no participation in directing those processes or designing those products. In this case, however, both rules apply. The trial court's order sustaining defendants' demurrers should be affirmed.

¹ A related issue is currently under review by this Court in Webb v. Special Electric Company, Inc. (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 595, review granted June 12, 2013, S209927 (Webb), involving a product user's claimed asbestos exposure from cutting pipe that his employer bought from a pipe supply company, that in turn bought its inventory from a manufacturing company (Johns Manville), that in turn incorporated into its pipe products asbestos supplied in bulk form in a sale brokered by the defendant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Flavio Ramos worked for Supreme Casting & Pattern, Inc. (Supreme Casting), an industrial foundry that made metal parts. Ramos and his wife claim that Ramos's work for Supreme Casting exposed him to manufacturing processes that generated fumes from melted down metals, as well as dusts from plaster, sand, limestone, and marble, all of which allegedly caused him to develop interstitial pulmonary fibrosis. (Typed opn. 4.)

Seeking a remedy beyond the worker's compensation benefits that would be available from Ramos's employer, plaintiffs sued several of the companies that supplied the raw materials that were subjected to the various industrial foundry and fabrication processes used to make the metal parts. (Typed opn. 3-4.) One such company was Alcoa, which generally sold primary aluminum, aluminum alloys, and aluminum-containing products, and which along with six other suppliers, sold metal products to Supreme Casting. (Typed opn. 4.) Plaintiffs asserted theories of strict liability (design defect and failure to warn), negligence, negligence per se, fraudulent concealment, breach of implied warranties, and loss of consortium based on Mr. Ramos's alleged injuries. (Typed opn. 3.)

Aluminum, one of the most abundant and versatile materials on Earth, is found in a wide range of products and materials, and can be used as a raw material in "innumerable ways" in modern industry. (See *Maxton*, *supra*, 203 Cal.App.4th at p. 85.) Alcoa's aluminum materials at issue here are not consumer products; they

are instead supplied to manufacturers who use the materials to make various end-use products. (*Ibid.*)

Nowhere in their four amended complaints have plaintiffs alleged that (1) Alcoa's aluminum materials were contaminated, or otherwise deviated from normal aluminum materials, (2) the aluminum materials released harmful agents in their undisturbed state or (3) Alcoa controlled the way in which Mr. Ramos's employer used those aluminum materials.

Although plaintiffs alleged that Alcoa's aluminum was not "substantially altered" during Supreme Casting's industrial processes, they also concede that Mr. Ramos's alleged injurious exposure occurred only when the aluminum was "melted in furnaces" and, once in a "molten" state, generated metal fumes. (Typed opn. 4.) Thus, as the Court of Appeal noted in its opinion, plaintiffs alleged that Alcoa's aluminum materials became "inherently dangerous" only "when melted during the casting process," which was controlled solely by Supreme Casting. (Typed opn. 17.)

Alcoa demurred to plaintiffs' fourth amended complaint, arguing that the supplier of a multi-use raw material like aluminum is not liable for injuries that occur when a third party, like Mr. Ramos's employer Supreme Casting, subjects the otherwise safe raw materials to industrial processes that create an allegedly harmful condition. The trial court, relying on *Maxton* and *Artiglio* sustained Alcoa's demurrer without leave to amend. (12 AA 2969-2970.)

The Court of Appeal reversed, declining to apply that aspect of the so-called "component parts" doctrine that protects raw materials suppliers from injuries caused when the raw material is incorporated into another product.² The court concluded the doctrine does not apply here "[b]ecause the [complaint] alleges that Ramos's injuries resulted from the direct and intended use of respondents' products, and not from injuries resulting from the use of any end product" (Typed opn. 6.) The Court of Appeal also rejected the argument that the defendants were protected by the sophisticated purchaser doctrine. (Typed opn. 24-25.)

The Court of Appeal expressly disagreed with *Maxton*'s rationale on these points. (Typed opn. 20.) The Court of Appeal, however, did not appear to disagree with the conclusion in *Maxton* that, if its rationale were followed, all causes of action failed as a matter of law whether pleaded under negligence or strict liability theories. (Compare *Maxton*, *supra*, 203 Cal.App.4th at p. 89 with typed opn. 12.)

Not all "component parts" are raw materials. They may be separately manufactured products. The component parts doctrine applies to components "such as raw materials, valves, or switches, [which] have no functional capabilities unless integrated into other products." (Rest.3d Torts, Products Liability § 5, com. a, pp. 130-131.)

LEGAL DISCUSSION

- I. AS THE SUPPLIER OF MULTI-USE RAW MATERIALS,
 ALCOA IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR INJURIES
 ALLEGEDLY CAUSED BY THE PLAINTIFF'S
 EMPLOYER'S OWN MANUFACTURING PROCESS.
- A. The purpose of products liability law is to impose liability on those who control the creation and distribution of defective products, and who are in the best position to enhance safety by reducing injuries from those products.

Strict liability is not absolute liability, requiring product suppliers and manufacturers to become insurers of their product's safety. (O'Neil v. Crane Co. (2012) 53 Cal.4th 335, 362 (O'Neil), quoting Daly v. General Motors Corp. (1978) 20 Cal.3d 725, 733 ["From its inception, . . . strict liability has never been, and is not now, absolute liability"].) Rather, only those suppliers and manufacturers who exercise control over the product and the circumstances giving rise to injury are the ones that properly bear liability when injury occurs. (O'Neil at p. 349, quoting Sindell v. Abbott Laboratories (1980) 26 Cal.3d 588, 597 ["It is fundamental that the imposition of liability requires a showing that the plaintiff's injuries were caused by an act of the defendant or an instrumentality under the defendant's control"].)

"[T]he avowed purpose of imposing strict liability upon the manufacturer is twofold: (1) loss-distribution or risk-spreading and (2) injury-reduction by enhanced safety." (Shepard v. Superior Court (1977) 76 Cal.App.3d 16, 26 (Shepard); accord, Escola v. Coca Cola Bottling Co. (1944) 24 Cal.2d 453, 462 (conc. opn. of Traynor, J.) ["Even if there is no negligence, however, public policy demands that responsibility be fixed wherever it will most effectively reduce the hazards to life and health inherent in defective products that reach the market"].)

The first rationale, risk-spreading, ensures that costs of injuries resulting from defective products are borne by the manufacturers who put such defective products on the market rather than by the injured persons. (Greenman v. Yuba Power Products, Inc. (1963) 59 Cal.2d 57, 63; Vandermark v. Ford Motor Co. (1964) 61 Cal.2d 256, 262-263.) The second rationale, injury reduction, imposes liability on those entities "in the best position to discover and correct the dangerous aspects of [their] products before any injury occurs." (Shepard, supra, 76 Cal.App.3d at p. 27, citing Vandermark at p. 256.)

Neither policy rationale is served by imposing liability on the suppliers of multi-use raw materials that become dangerous only when subject to the purchaser/manufacturer's industrial process over which the raw material supplier has no control.

B. The purchaser-manufacturers that incorporate raw materials into their own manufacturing processes or products are in the best position to prevent injuries from such uses of the raw materials.

As recognized by the drafters of the Restatement of Torts, traditional product liability theories do not impose liability upon suppliers of non-defective fungible components or non-dangerous naturally occurring raw materials that are capable of multiple uses. (See Rest.2d Torts, § 402A, coms. p and q, pp. 357-358; Rest.3d Torts, Products Liability § 5, com. a, p. 131 ["As a general rule, component sellers should not be liable when the component itself is not defective"]³; accord, Jimenez v. Superior Court (2002) 29 Cal.4th 473, 480 (Jimenez) [noting that "component part" suppliers ordinarily are not liable unless their components were defective when they "left the factory"].) This is true whether the injury occurs to a worker engaged in the manufacturing process (Maxton, supra, 203 Cal.App.4th 81) or is sustained by a consumer using the

³ As used in the Restatement and the case law, "component sellers" include the sellers of raw materials. (*Maxton*, *supra*, 203 Cal.App.4th at p. 88 ["A comment of the Restatement Third provides: 'Product components include raw materials, bulk products, and other constituent products sold for integration into other products.' (Rest.3d, § 5, com. a, p. 130.)"].) The reason for this rule is that like finished products intended to be incorporated into yet other finished products, raw material suppliers generally lack control over the post-sale processes that convert the raw materials into something else. (Rest.3d Torts, Products Liability, § 5, com. a, pp. 130-131.)

end-product incorporating the raw material (Artiglio, supra, 61 Cal.App.4th 830).

The rationale for not imposing liability on a supplier of raw materials "is a matter of equity and public policy." (Maxton, supra, 203 Cal.App.4th at p. 89.) The purchasers of the raw materials "are in a better position [than the suppliers] to guarantee the safety of the manufacturing process" that they oversee, and the safety of the "end product" to the consumer, because the purchasermanufacturers are the ones that plan and control how they incorporate the raw materials into their finished products (Ibid.; Taylor v. Elliott Turbomachinery Co. Inc. (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 564, 584, quoting Springmeyer v. Ford Motor Co. (1998) 60 Cal.App.4th 1541, 1554 ["finished product manufacturers know exactly what they intend to do with a component or raw material and therefore are in a better position to guarantee that the component or raw material is suitable for their particular applications' "].)

Moreover, employer-manufacturers (like Supreme Casting here) have nondelegable duties to guarantee the safety of the workplace and to each of its employees. (*Bridges v. Los Angeles Pacific Ry.* (1909) 156 Cal. 492, 494 ["the obligation of the master to furnish to his employees safe appliances and a safe place for work is one that cannot be delegated"]; *Bonner v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 1023, 1034 (*Bonner*).)

In contrast, "'[s]uppliers of versatile materials like chains, valves, sand gravel, etc., cannot be expected to become experts in the infinite number of finished products that might conceivably

incorporate their multi-use raw materials or components." (Artiglio, supra, 61 Cal.App.4th at p. 837, quoting In re Temporomandibular Joint (TMJ) Implants Products Liability Litigation (8th Cir. 1996) 97 F.3d 1050, 1057 (In re TMJ).) Thus, "'[m]aking suppliers of inherently safe raw materials and component parts pay for the mistakes of the finished product manufacturer would not only be unfair, but it also would impose an intolerable burden on the business world." (*Ibid.*; accord, *Maxton*, supra, 203 Cal. App. 4th at p. 89 ["Imposing liability on suppliers of product components would force them to scrutinize the buyermanufacturer's manufacturing process and end products in order to reduce their exposure to lawsuits. This would require many suppliers to retain experts in a huge variety of areas, especially if the product components are versatile raw materials."]; Rest.3d Torts, Products Liability § 5, com. c, p. 134 ["To impose a duty to warn would require the seller to develop expertise regarding a multitude of different end-products and to investigate the actual use of raw materials by manufacturers over whom the supplier has no control"].)

This "refusal to impose liability on sellers of nondefective components [or raw materials] is expressed in various ways, such as the 'raw material supplier defense' or the 'bulk sales/sophisticated purchaser rule.'" (Rest.3d Torts, Products Liability § 5, com. a, p. 131; Artiglio, supra, 61 Cal.App.4th at p. 837 ["cases have subjected claims made against component suppliers to two related doctrines, the 'raw material supplier defense' and 'the bulk sales/sophisticated purchaser rule'"].)

But however expressed, "these formulations recognize that component sellers who do not participate in the *integration of the component* into the design of the product should not be liable merely because the integration of the component causes the product to become dangerously defective." (Rest.3d Torts, Products Liability § 5, com. a, p. 131, emphasis added.) Suppliers of raw materials should thus be liable only when (1) the raw materials themselves are defective, or (2) the raw material providers substantially participate in the integration of the raw materials into the design of the other products. (*Ibid.*)

C. As the supplier of raw materials, Alcoa is as a matter of law not liable for plaintiffs' claimed injuries because there is no allegation that its aluminum was unsafe when sold or that it controlled the manufacturing process that is alleged to have cause plaintiffs' injury.

As explained by the *Maxton* court in denying liability to a plaintiff on facts essentially identical to those here, "[t]he metal products at issue here are clearly raw materials." (*Maxton*, supra, 203 Cal.App.4th at p. 92 [aluminum suppliers not liable for injuries caused during the manufacturing process because aluminum is a raw material].) Alcoa's aluminum products were alleged in plaintiffs' complaint to have been sold to Supreme Casting, which then subjected the aluminum to different industrial foundry and fabrication processes specifically "for the purpose of using them to manufacture other products." (*Ibid.*; see also *Artiglio*, supra, 61

Cal.App.4th at p. 840 [defendant not liable for supplying silicon to "a number of other manufacturers which safely incorporated [the silicone] into a host of other" finished products].) In other words, the allegedly injurious conditions occurred during the integration of the aluminum into something else. (Rest.3d Torts, Products Liability § 5, com. a, p. 131.)

The aluminum products sold by Alcoa had no usefulness standing alone, and their utility in this specific instance (aluminum products can be melted, bent, cut, welded, or changed in myriad ways) depended on the outcome of an industrial process that melted the aluminum—a process that was conducted entirely under the direction of Supreme Casting. Alcoa's aluminum is thus exactly the type of multi-use "intermediate" product for which the supplier is not responsible after it is sold. (*Maxton*, *supra*, 203 Cal.App.4th at p. 92.)

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