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

## LEGAL ARGUMENT

### I.

#### **Review Should Be Dismissed As Improvidently Granted Because Alcoa and the Other Suppliers Have Abandoned the Specific Issue That Created Grounds for Review.**

In both the trial and lower appellate court, Alcoa and the other suppliers argued that the component parts doctrine, as applied in *Maxton*, barred Ramos’s causes of action. When the Court of Appeal disagreed with *Maxton* and concluded that there were no facts on the face of Ramos’s complaint to invoke that doctrine, Alcoa and the other suppliers sought review based on a split of appellate authority.

Alcoa, which was the only party to file an opening brief on the merits, does not address that split or the arguments it made below. Rather, Alcoa abandons its previous arguments that the component parts doctrine applies. Instead, Alcoa asserts for the first time, new arguments based on different defenses—the “raw material” and “sophisticated intermediary” doctrines. In doing so, Alcoa concedes the general inapplicability of the component parts doctrine under these circumstances and attempts to have this Court review different issues that were never raised below. Since Alcoa has abandoned its component parts argument, it concedes that the question



originally presented by this case, best defined by the conflict between *Maxton* and the Court of Appeal's opinion, is no longer at issue. Put another way, its abandonment of the component parts doctrine shows that Alcoa itself does not believe the component parts doctrine applies to this case and constitutes tacit recognition that *Maxton* was wrongly decided.

Moreover, given the procedural context of this case, Alcoa's new arguments only leave this Court with the mundane task of determining whether Ramos's complaint contains factual allegations necessary to satisfy Alcoa's proposed new defenses. There is no evidentiary record, no statements of the law by the Court of Appeal, or any other matter upon which this Court could base a decision of any significance. Lastly, as Alcoa concedes, some of the new issues it raises (most notably the sophisticated intermediary argument) are already before this Court in other cases with full evidentiary records that are more suitable for review. (Brf., p. 5, citing *Webb v. Special Electric Co., Inc.* (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 595, rev. granted June 12, 2013, S209927.)

Given Alcoa's concessions regarding the component parts doctrine, there is literally nothing left for this Court to review. Alcoa does not dispute the Court of Appeal's determination that no facts in the complaint invoke that defense. Moreover, the Court of Appeal already performed that analysis, as has another court under nearly identical circumstances. (*Uriarte v. Scott Sales Co.* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1396, rev. granted September 17, 2014, S220088.) In light of Alcoa's concession that the component parts doctrine does not apply here, review is unnecessary and was improvidently granted. This Court should dismiss review under Rule 8.528, and resolve the split of authority with *Maxton* by ordering publication of the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case and *Uriarte*.

## II.

### **Ramos's Complaint Does Not Contain Facts That Invoke Any Defense Limiting the Suppliers' Liability For Their Own Products.**

This case arose in the context of a motion for judgment on the pleadings. In ruling on such a motion, like a demurrer, trial courts are confined to the facts alleged in the challenged pleading, and must accept them as true. (*Smiley v. Citibank* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 138, 145; *Harris v. Grimes* (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 180, 185.) The moving party carries the burden, and motions “based on an affirmative defense will be sustained only where the face of the complaint discloses that the action is necessarily barred by the defense.” (*McKenney v. Purepac Pharmaceutical Co.* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 72, quoting *Casterson v. Superior Court* (2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 177, 182-183.) “It must appear clearly and affirmatively that, upon the face of the complaint, the right of action is necessarily barred. This will not be unless the complaint alleges every fact which the defendant would be required to prove if he were to plead the bar of the . . . affirmative defense.” (*Leasequip, Inc. v. Dapeer* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 394, 400.)

Alcoa and the other suppliers moved for judgment on the pleadings based on the component parts doctrine. Perhaps recognizing the lack of merit to that argument, Alcoa now argues for a new approach that attempts to incorporate certain aspects of different doctrines that at times limit liability of certain product suppliers. In doing so, Alcoa's new proposals conflate and distort well-established principles of products liability without regard for their underlying rationales. But whatever new arguments Alcoa asserts, the ultimate and rather basic question remains whether facts establishing any such defenses appear on the face of Ramos's complaint. As will be shown, the answer is “no.”

**A. Ramos Did Not Allege Facts Invoking the Component Parts Doctrine.**

The component parts doctrine sometimes operates as an affirmative defense for suppliers of non-defective products that are used as components in other finished products that cause an injury. (*Tellez-Cordova v. Campbell-Hausfeld/Scott Fetzer* (2004) 129 Cal.App.4th 577, 581.) For the defense to apply, the alleged injury must be caused by the finished product: “The component parts doctrine provides that the manufacturer of a component part is not liable for injuries caused *by the finished product* into which the component has been incorporated unless the component itself was defective and caused harm.” (*O’Neil v. Crane Co.* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 335, 355, emphasis added.) By its own terms, the doctrine does not excuse liability for harm caused by the component itself, but only for harm “caused by a product into which the component is integrated . . . .” (Rest.3d Torts, Products Liability, § 5.)

Here, there are no facts in Ramos’s complaint alleging that he was injured by any finished product. To the contrary, Ramos alleged his injuries were caused by the suppliers’ products themselves when used as intended. As the Court of Appeal explained, “the [operative complaint] alleges that Ramos suffered injuries not from a defective ‘integrated product’ that incorporated respondents’ products, but from those products themselves, which he used as respondents intended in the course of Supreme’s manufacturing process.” (Typed opn. 23.) According to the Court of Appeal, this allegation alone placed Ramos’s claims outside “the letter of the component parts doctrine” and precluded its application. (*Ibid.*)

Beyond showing that their products were integrated into a finished product that caused the alleged injuries, Alcoa and the other suppliers were also required to show the additional elements of the defense: (1) the

products were not inherently dangerous; (2) the products were supplied in bulk to a sophisticated buyer; (3) the products were significantly altered during their integration into a finished product; and, (4) the product manufacturers had a limited role in developing or designing the finished product that caused injury. (*Artiglio v. General Electric Co.* (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 830, 839.)

None of the suppliers ever identified any allegations in Ramos’s complaint that satisfied these *Artiglio* factors. Moreover, the Court of Appeal methodically evaluated each of them in turn, and concluded they were irrelevant when a plaintiff alleges, as Ramos did, that his injuries were caused by the supplier’s own product. For example, regarding the fourth *Artiglio* factor—whether the supplier has control over the end product—the Court of Appeal explained “[w]hen . . . a worker alleges that he suffered injuries directly from the supplier’s product, but not from his employer’s end product, the supplier’s lack of control over the design and development of the end product is irrelevant to the rationale underlying the component parts doctrine and thus to the supplier’s liability.” (Typed opn. 26.)

**B. The Raw Material Doctrine Does Not Apply Because Ramos Never Alleged That the Metal and Sand Products Were “Multiuse Raw Materials.”**

Shifting their focus away from the component parts defense, Alcoa and the other suppliers now contend—for the first time—that their products are “multiuse raw materials” for which they should not, as a matter of policy, be held responsible. The raw material doctrine is related to the component parts doctrine, but only applies when facts disclose that the supplier’s product is a non-defective multi-use material. Strictly speaking, the doctrine does not exist in California, as there are multiple cases holding

that even supposed “raw materials” are products for purposes of liability. (See, e.g., *Garza v. Asbestos Corporation, Ltd.* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 651; *Arena v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.* (1998) 63 Cal.App.4th 1178; *Jenkins v. T&N PLC* (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 1224.)

Regardless of the viability of the raw material doctrine in California, the characterization of a product as “raw” or “multi-use” is a factual question. In his complaint, Ramos did not allege that the suppliers’ products were raw multi-use products. Rather, he alleged that the metal products he worked with “were specialized metal alloys manufactured and sold . . . for specialized applications, and were not merely bulk materials susceptible to myriad applications.” {9 AA 2282} Metal alloys, by definition, do not appear in nature and are manufactured products in that they are comprised of different metals in certain proportions, sold to be “melted as specifically designed and intended by defendants in furnaces during foundry operations . . . .” {9 AA 2275-2277, 2281} Ramos alleged that the metal products released toxins that he inhaled when using them as they were intended. {9 AA 2281-2282; 2355}

Similarly, Ramos alleged that the plaster and sand were manufactured and sold “for the specialized application of making molds for casting of non-ferrous metals, and were not merely bulk materials susceptible to myriad applications by customers.” {9 AA 2292, 2306-2307} Indeed, the sand and plaster products were—by definition—sieved, graded, cleaned, and quality-controlled, and were thus processed finished products in their own right. The sand and plaster, as supplied here, were single-purpose final products that were manufactured and marketed for molding of molten metal.

No matter how the suppliers' products are characterized, the same underlying requirements to invoke the doctrine as a variant of the component parts doctrine still apply. Most notably, Alcoa and the other suppliers still had to show that Ramos was injured by a finished product into which the "raw materials" were integrated, as well as the other elements of the defense. As explained above, Ramos's complaint did not allege he was injured by any finished product, even one supposedly comprised of formerly raw materials. As the Court of Appeal stated, Ramos's complaint "does not allege that respondents' products were sold to Supreme in the form of 'basic' raw materials. On the contrary, the [complaint] alleges that the products were specialized materials that respondents sold for use in the metal casting manufacturing process, and that the products posed known hazards to Ramos when used as intended." (Typed opn. 27-28.) Since the truth of these allegations must be accepted, they preclude invocation of any defense based on the purported raw material doctrine.

**C. Ramos Did Not Allege Any Facts Supporting a Sophisticated Intermediary Defense.**

Alcoa contends for the first time that its liability should be limited pursuant to a formulation of the sophisticated intermediary defense that focuses on knowledge purportedly held by Ramos's employer. Alcoa and the other defendants addressed this general concept below, but only as the third *Artiglio* factor required to invoke the component parts doctrine. None of the suppliers asserted, as Alcoa does now, a specific affirmative defense based on any sophisticated intermediary principle.

Moreover, the doctrine is fact-intense and requires a product supplier to prove that it provided adequate warning of its product's hazards to an intermediary, that the intermediary was sophisticated (i.e., possessed expert

knowledge regarding the hazards and the means to prevent injury from such hazards), and that the intermediary could reasonably be relied on by the defendant to convey the hazard warnings to the user. (*Stewart v. Union Carbide Corp.* (2010) 190 Cal.App.4th 23, 28.) As the Court of Appeal put it, “the employer’s status as a sophisticated purchaser does not shield the supplier from liability as a matter of law; the supplier must also show that it had some reason to believe the worker knew, or should have known, of the product’s hazards. (Typed opn. 25, citing *Pfeifer v. John Crane, Inc.* (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th 1270, 1298-1299.)

The defense, however formulated, raises multiple factual questions that cannot be determined from the face of a complaint. The adequacy of a manufacturer’s warnings of toxic hazards is always a question of fact. (*Schwoerer v. Union Oil Co.* (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 103, 111-114.) The issue whether an employer is “sophisticated” is also a question of fact. (*Mozeke v. International Paper Co.* (5th Cir. 1991) 933 F.2d 1293, 1297.) And whether a manufacturer reasonably relies on an intermediary to convey adequate warnings to an ultimate user is yet another prerequisite left to the trier of fact. (*Carmichael v. Reitz* (1971) 17 Cal.App.3d 958, 989.)

Ramos’s complaint does not allege facts showing a sophisticated intermediary defense. To the contrary, as the Court of Appeal noted, Ramos alleged that Supreme (Ramos’s employer) was unaware of the hazards presented by the suppliers’ various products. (Typed opn. 25, fn. 17.) Moreover, the Court of Appeal rejected the suppliers’ contention that longtime use of the products made Supreme a sophisticated buyer as a matter of law. (*Id.* at 24.) Since the sophisticated intermediary defense requires resolution of multiple factual issues to determine its applicability, and since Ramos never alleged facts showing the defense, it cannot be invoked from the face of the complaint.

### III.

#### Any “Control-Based” Rule of Non-liability Has No Factual or Legal Support.

Relying on no legal authority other than *Maxton*, Alcoa and the other suppliers argue for a new “control-based” approach that would exempt manufacturers of non-defective multi-use raw materials from liability for injuries caused by their own products. (Brf. at p. 18.) Such an argument incorrectly presupposes that the products here were safe multi-use raw materials. As explained above, Ramos’s complaint alleged the opposite—that the products were dangerous defective products that the suppliers knew would be used for a single intended use.

Alcoa and the other suppliers propose a new rule to shield suppliers of purported raw materials that, when used as intended in a manufacturing process, cause injury to a worker involved in that process. As explained by the Court of Appeal in this case, prior to *Maxton*, the component parts defense was limited to circumstances where a *finished product* caused the injury to an end user, as opposed to a situation where a product intended to be used in manufacturing finished products causes injury to workers using it during a manufacturing process.

Indeed, the authorities upon which the *Maxton* court relied were all cases involving raw materials that actually became components or ingredients in finished products. (Typed opn. 21-23, fn. 15.) Like the *Maxton* court, Alcoa cites no legal authority holding that a supplier of a material, such as the metal ingots and tubing in that case, cannot be liable for injuries caused by exposure to the material during its intended industrial use. The reason *Maxton* and Alcoa offer no such authority is plain—no such authority exists.

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